RECEIVED

State of Wisconsin **Court of Appeals District 1**

08-18-2014

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2014AP001246-CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

٧.

Jeromy Miller,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment and order denying a postconviction motion of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Carl Ashley, and the Honorable Stephanie Rothstein, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 735 W. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1200 Milwaukee, WI 53233

414.671.9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issue

I. Whether the circuit court erred in denying Miller's postconviction motion to withdraw his guilty plea, without conducting an evidentiary hearing, where the motion alleged that that the court's plea colloquy was defective, and that defense counsel was ineffective, because both misinformed Miller that, despite the guilty plea, he would still be able to appeal the denial of a pretrial "motion to dismiss" the complaint.

Answered by the circuit court: No. The circuit judge reasoned that even if the judge and defense counsel misinformed Miller concerning his appeal rights, there is no prejudice because if Miller had gone to trial he would have been convicted.

Summary of the Argument

Miller filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty plea. In the motion, Miller alleged that his guilty plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because, at the plea hearing, the circuit judge misinformed Miller about his right to appeal the denial of pretrial motion to dismiss. Additionally, Miller alleged that his trial attorney was ineffective because the lawyer gave him the same advice. Finally, Miller alleged that if he had known that his guilty plea waived the right to appeal the denial of the pretrial motion, he would not have pleaded guilty.

The circuit court denied Miller's postconviction motion without conducting a hearing. The circuit judge implicitly recognized that the plea colloquy was defective, and that defense counsel's representation was deficient; but the judge found no prejudice on either count because, had Miller gone to trial, he would have been convicted.

The circuit court's ruling is erroneous because whether Miller would have been convicted at trial is not the proper measure of prejudice. Rather, the question is whether Miller would have pleaded guilty had he been properly informed by the court and by his lawyer. Moreover, there is utterly no basis in the record for the circuit court's claim that Miller would have been convicted had he gone to trial. No evidence was

presented, and this conclusion is apparently based solely on the judge's reading of the allegations of the criminal complaint.

Statement of the Case¹

On March 7, 2008, the defendant-appellant, Jeromy Miller ("Miller"), was charged with first degree sexual assault of a child, and the complaint alleged that intercourse occurred (penis to mouth). (R:2) Specifically, the complaint alleged that, based solely on Miller's statement to police, sometime between June 1, 2006 and March 31, 2007 Miller was in his bedroom at his stepfather's house. While there, he was watching a pornographic video and masturbating. Miller's six month-old daughter was in the bedroom with him at the time because he was exercising a period of temporary placement with the child. According to Miller's statement to police, while watching the video and masturbating, he briefly put the tip of his erect penis in the baby's mouth. *Id*.

Miller waived his preliminary hearing, and then entered a not guilty plea.

Miller filed a pretrial motion suppress his statement, and a motion to dismiss the complaint (R:17; App. D). The motion sought dismissal of the complaint on the grounds that Miller's confession to the police was wholly uncorroborated.

6

٠

¹ This case involves a guilty plea and, therefore, the brief will not set forth a separate statement of the facts. The facts as alleged in the complaint, as necessary for a clear understanding the issue, will be set forth as needed.

The circuit judge held a hearing on the motion to dismiss. No evidence was presented.² At the conclusion of the hearing, the judge denied the motion on the grounds that Miller's statement was sufficiently corroborated by the allegation in the criminal complaint that at the time in question, the baby's mother found a pornographic video in the Playstation in Miller's bedroom and threw it out³. (R:70-6)

Thereafter, the parties reached a plea agreement. The state amended the the information to allege that Miller had sexual contact, rather than sexual intercourse, with the child. (R:72-11). The state agreed to recommend that the court impose a bifurcated sentence of three years initial confinement and three years extended supervision, imposed and stayed, and to place Miller on probation for five years. (R:72-3) Miller then entered a no contest plea to the amended charge. (R:72-13)

Significantly, during the plea hearing, the judge told Miller, "Now, you have had some motion hearings and those issues are preserved. So if you appeal, the Court will look at those issues." (R:72-9)

The case then proceeded to sentencing. The circuit court imposed five years of initial confinement, and five years of extended supervision, stayed the sentence, and placed

² No evidence was presented on the motion to dismiss. The court did conduct an evidentiary hearing on the motion to suppress Miller's statement.

³ In fact, the complaint does not allege that the mother threw the video out.

Miller on probation for five years. (R:72-37)

Miller filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief (R:35), and he was appointed postconviction/appellate counsel. However, no appeal or postconviction motion was filed.

Years later, after Miller's probation was revoked and he was imprisoned, he filed a petition for habeas corpus alleging that his appointed attorney had abandoned him.

On August 27, 2013, the court of appeals granted Miller's petition (2012AP2470-W) and reinstated his postconviction/appellate rights under § 809.30, Stats.

Thereafter, on February 28, 2014 (R:52; App. C), Miller filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty plea on the grounds that the plea was not intelligently entered because, during the plea colloquy, the judge told Miller that he could appeal the denial of his pretrial motions, which, by implication, includes his motion to dismiss on the grounds that the confession was not corroborated. *Id.* Under the law, of course, only motions to suppress evidence may be raised on appeal after a guilty plea. Miller further alleged in the motion that had he known he could not appeal the motion to dismiss he would not have pleaded guilty, and he would have instead gone to trial. Additionally, the motion alleged that Miller received ineffective assistance of trial counsel because his attorney raised the "corroboration" issue as a pretrial motion

when, in fact, it should have been raised as a trial issue; and, further, that counsel advised Miller at the plea hearing that he would be able to appeal the corroboration issue despite his guilty plea. *Id.*

Without conducting a hearing, the circuit court denied Miller's motion by memorandum decision. (R:60) According to the decision, even if the judge and defense counsel misled Miller during the plea and the plea colloquy, the error is harmless because, had Miller gone to trial, *he would have been convicted*. (R:60-4, 5; App. b)⁴ The words of the circuit judge are worth reading. She wrote:

Consequently, even if his attorney (or the court) gave him erroneous advice about the ability to appeal the merits of the motion to dismiss the complaint, he has not shown that he was prejudiced by the error because if he had gone to trial, there is not a reasonable probability that he would have been acquitted.

(emphasis provided; R:60-5)

Miller timely filed a notice of appeal.

⁴ Interestingly, the circuit judge does not explain how she could possibly know whether Miller would have been convicted had he gone to trial. No evidence was ever presented concerning Miller's guilt or innocence. Thus, it appears that the circuit judge reached this bold conclusion based wholly on the allegations of the criminal complaint.

Argument

I. The allegations of Miller's postconviction motion are sufficient to allege that his guilty plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because both the judge and defense counsel misinformed him about the right to appeal a pretrial motion to dismiss the complaint and, therefore, the circuit court must conduct an evidentiary hearing.

Miller filed a postconviction motion seeking to withdraw his guilty plea. In the motion, Miller alleged that his guilty plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because, at the plea hearing, the circuit judge misinformed Miller about his right to appeal the denial of pretrial motion to dismiss. Additionally, Miller alleged that his trial attorney was ineffective because the lawyer gave him the same advice. Finally, Miller alleged that if he had known that his guilty plea waived the right to appeal the denial of the pretrial motion, he would not have pleaded guilty.

The circuit court denied Miller's postconviction motion without conducting a hearing. The circuit judge implicitly recognized that the plea colloquy was defective, and that defense counsel's representation was deficient; but the judge found no prejudice on either count because, had Miller gone to trial, he would have been convicted.

The circuit court's ruling is erroneous because whether Miller would have been convicted at trial is not the proper

measure of prejudice. Rather, the question is whether Miller would have pleaded guilty had he been properly informed by the court and by his lawyer. Moreover, there is utterly no basis in the record for the circuit court's claim that Miller would have been convicted had he gone to trial. No evidence was presented, and this conclusion was apparently based solely on the judge's reading of the allegations of the criminal complaint.

A. Standard of Appellate Review

The standard of appellate review for a claim that the circuit court improperly denied the defendant a hearing on a postconviction motion was set forth in *State v. Allen,* 2004 WI 106, P9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433, as follows:

Whether a defendant's postconviction motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a hearing for the relief requested is a mixed standard of review. First, we determine whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. This is a question of law that we review de novo. [State v.] Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 309-10, 548 N.W.2d 50. [682 N.W.2d 433 (1996)] If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing. ld. at 310; Nelson v. State, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). However, if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11; Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d at 497-98. We require the circuit court "to form its independent judgment after a review of the record and pleadings and to support its decision by written opinion." Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d at 498. See Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 318-19 (quoting the same). We review a circuit court's

discretionary decisions under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *In re the Commitment of Franklin*, 2004 WI 38, P6, 270 Wis. 2d 271, 677 N.W.2d 276; Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 311.

See, also, State v. Love, 2005 WI 116, P27 (Wis. 2005).

Thus, the question on this appeal is whether Miller's motion alleged sufficient facts which, if true, would entitle him to withdraw his guilty plea under the law.

B. The legal standard for post-sentencing plea withdrawal.

In, *State v. Smith*, 202 Wis.2d 21, 549 N.W.2d 232, 233-234 (Wis. 1996), the court stated, "Withdrawal of a plea following sentencing is not allowed unless it is necessary to correct a manifest injustice."

A defendant seeking to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing must show that refusal would cause "manifest injustice." *State v. Brown,* 2006 WI 100, ¶ 18, 293 Wis.2d 594, 716 N.W.2d 906. A defendant can make a prima facie showing of manifest injustice if the trial court failed to follow the procedures designed to ensure a defendant's plea is knowing, intelligent, and voluntary (i.e., the procedures outlined in Wis. Stat. § 971.08 and case law), and the defendant swears that he actually did not know or understand the plea's consequences. Such a showing shifts the burden to the State to establish that despite the defects in those procedures, the defendant's plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. *See Brown,* 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶¶ 36–37, 716 N.W.2d 906 (discussing *Bangert* motions).

If, on the other hand, no defects in the plea-taking procedures are evident in the record itself, the defendant's motion to withdraw the plea must allege other facts, such as ineffective assistance of counsel, that, if proven, would demonstrate that the defendant did not understand his plea or its consequences. *Brown*, 293 Wis.2d 594, ¶ 42, 716 N.W.2d 906 (discussing *Bentley* motions; see *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d 303, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996)).

State v. Lichty, 2012 WI App 126, 344 Wis. 2d 733, 740-41, 823 N.W.2d 830, 834 review denied, 2013 WI 80, 839 N.W.2d 616.

C. Miller's motion properly alleges that his plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because the judge misinformed him as to whether his right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss was properly reserved

Miller alleged in his motion that the trial judge informed him at the plea hearing that, despite his guilty plea, he could still appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss the complaint. This is not true. See Sec. 971.31(10), Stats. Under the statute, only "An order denying a motion to suppress evidence or a motion challenging the admissibility of a statement of a defendant may be reviewed upon appeal from a final judgment or order notwithstanding the fact that the judgment or order was entered upon a plea of guilty or no contest to the information or criminal complaint." Thus, Miller's guilty plea waived his right to

appeal the denial of his pretrial motion to dismiss the complaint.⁵

In a factual scenario almost identical to the one presented here, the Supreme Court reversed a trial court order denying the defendant's motion to withdraw his plea. The court wrote:

Riekkoff pleaded guilty believing that he was entitled to an appellate review of the reserved issue. Both the prosecutor and the trial judge acquiesced in this view and permitted Riekkoff to believe that, despite his plea, appellate review could be had of the evidentiary order. Because Riekkoff thought he could, with the acquiescence of the trial court and the prosecutor, stipulate to the right of appellate review, it is clear that Riekkoff was under a misapprehension with respect to the effect of his plea. He thought he had preserved his right of review, when as a matter of law he could not. Under these circumstances, as a matter of law his plea was neither knowing nor voluntary. While that plea waived his appellate rights in respect to the antecedent evidentiary motion, we conclude that if Riekkoff desires to move to withdraw his plea he may do so

State v. Riekkoff, 112 Wis. 2d 119, 128, 332 N.W.2d 744, 749 (1983).

was probably not properly raised in the trial court.

14

⁵ Miller's postconviction motion also argued that an issue concerning whether an uncorroborated statement by the defendant may serve as the basis for a criminal conviction should not brought as a pretrial motion challenging the sufficiency of the complaint. Rather, the issue is a question of the sufficiency of the evidence presented at trial. This is an additional reason for Miller to withdraw his guilty plea. The so-called *corpus delicti* issue

D. The motion properly alleges that Miller's trial counsel's performance was deficient because he improperly advised Miller that he preserved his right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss.

Miller's motion alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective in that counsel, too, assured Miller that he could appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss the complaint. Miller further alleged that, if he had known that a guilty plea waived his right to appeal that order, he would not have pleaded guilty.

Challenges to guilty pleas alleging ineffective assistance of counsel require application of the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Under that test, the defendant must prove: (1) deficient performance, and (2) prejudice. *Id.* at 687; see *State v. Sanchez*, 201 Wis. 2d 219, 236, 548 N.W.2d 69 (1996). To prove deficient performance, the defendant must show specific acts or omissions of counsel that are "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690.

Again, as was mentioned in the preceding section, Miller's guilty plea waived the right to appeal the denial of his motion to dismiss. Assuming the allegations of Miller's postconviction motion to be true, then, defense counsel's advice to the contrary was clearly deficient.

E. Neither the misinformation given by the trial judge at the plea hearing, nor trial counsel's deficient performance were harmless, and the the circuit judge's "finding" that the errors were harmless is not based upon any evidence in the record.

The circuit judge denied Miller's postconviction motion because the judge "found" that neither the judge's misinformation nor trial counsel's deficient performance was prejudicial. That is, according to the circuit judge, had Miller gone to trial he would have been convicted anyway.

This, of course, is not the proper measure of prejudice for either of Miller's claims.

With regard to the claim that the judge misinformed his him, the measure of prejudice is whether the state can prove that Miller's plea was, nevertheless, intelligently entered. In this case, it would require proof that Miller actually knew that his guilty plea waived his right to appeal.

With regard to the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the proper measure of prejudice is whether Miller credibly alleged that, but for counsel's error, he would not have pleaded guilty. The postconviction motion alleges that Miller would not have pleaded guilty had he known that in doing so he waived his right to appeal.

More disturbing, though, is the fact that in this case, without conducting an evidentiary hearing, the circuit judge

purported to make a "finding" that Miller would have been convicted had he gone to trial. There was no evidence presented in this record concerning the merits of the case. Thus, the circuit judge's "finding" appears to be based upon the judge's reading of the *allegations* of the criminal complaint.

i. The burden shifted to the State to prove that Miller's plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered, and the state presented no evidence; but, nevertheless, Miller's motion was denied.

When the defendant properly alleges that his plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because the judge's plea colloquy was defective, the burden then shifts to the state to prove that the defendant's plea was nevertheless knowing and intelligent.⁶ See, Lichty, supra

Here, in her memorandum decision, the circuit judge implicitly recognized that the court misinformed Miller, but then went on to find the error was harmless because he would have been convicted had he gone to trial.

Firstly, this is not the correct measure of prejudice. Rather, where misinformation is given during the plea colloquy, the burden then shifts to the state to prove that, despite the misinformation from the judge, the plea was nevertheless intelligently entered. Here, the standard would have required the state to present evidence that, despite the judge's

_

⁶ The circuit court's memorandum decision, without citing authority, suggests that it is Miller's burden to show that he would have been acquitted if he had gone to trial.

misinformation, Miller actually knew that by entering a guilty plea he was waiving his right to appeal. No such evidence was presented, or even alleged by the state in its response to Miller's postconviction motion.

Additionally, there was no evidence presented as to Miller's guilt and, therefore, there is no way in logic that the judge could have properly determined that if Miller had gone to trial he would have been convicted.

ii Trial counsel's error was prejudicial because Miller alleged that, but for counsel's error, he would not have pleaded guilty.

In the context of a plea withdrawal, to satisfy the prejudice prong of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's alleged errors, he or she would not have pled guilty, and would have insisted on going to trial. State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 312 (Wis. 1996).

Here, Miller alleged that had he known that he could not appeal the denial of his pretrial motion he would not have pleaded guilty. Nonetheless, in her memorandum decision denying Miller's postconviction motion, the circuit judge found that Miller was not prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance because had Miller gone to trial, he would have

been convicted anyway.

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