RECEIVED

11-24-2014

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS COURT OF APPEALQF WISCONSIN DISTRICT I

Appeal No. 2014AP1246-CR (Milwaukee County Cir. Ct. Case No. 2008CF1117)

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JEROMY MILLER,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND AN ORDER DENYING A POST-SENTENCING
PLEA-WITHDRAWAL MOTION ENTERED IN
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,
THE HON. CARL ASHLEY AND THE HON. STEPHANIE
ROTHSTEIN PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN

J.B. VAN HOLLEN Attorney General

CHRISTOPHER G. WREN Assistant Attorney General State Bar No. 1013313

Attorneys For Plaintiff-Respondent State of Wisconsin

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

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE PLEA AGREEMENT INCLUDED MILLER'S AFFIRMATIVE WAIVER OF ANY CHALLENGE TO THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, AND BECAUSE THE CORROBORATION RULE DOES NOT APPLY WHEN DETERMINING THE SUFFICIENCY OF A CRIMINAL COMPLAINT, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DENIED MILLER'S PLEAWITHDRAWAL MOTION.

Miller's appeal presents a single issue: whether the circuit court properly denied Miller's postsentencing plea-withdrawal motion without holding an evidentiary hearing. Miller contends that both the court and his lawyer misinformed him about whether he could appeal a pretrial order denying his motion to dismiss the criminal complaint as insufficient to establish probable cause to believe he had committed a felony.

This court should affirm the circuit court's order denying the plea-withdrawal motion and should affirm the judgment of conviction. Miller has not borne his burden of showing, by clear and convincing evidence, that a manifest injustice would result from denying withdrawal of his plea. *McCallum*, 208 Wis. 2d at 473.

A. Miller Filed An Untimely Challenge To The Sufficiency Of The Criminal Complaint.

Miller waived his challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint by filing an untimely challenge. 6 As a general matter under Wis. Stat. § 971.31(2), a defendant's challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint "shall be raised before trial by motion or be deemed waived." The statute, however, refers to Wis. Stat. § 971.31(5) for exceptions to the general rule. In this instance, the exception in 971.31(5)(c) applies: "In felony actions, objections based on the insufficiency of the complaint shall be made prior to the preliminary examination or waiver thereof or be deemed waived" (emphasis added). See also State v. Berg, 116 Wis. 2d 360, 365, 342 N.W.2d 258 (Ct. App. 1983) ("Challenges to the sufficiency of a complaint must be made prior to the preliminary hearing. Sec. 971.31(5)(c), Stats.").

Here, on March 14, 2008, Miller waived his preliminary examination (6; 66:2-3). On September 9, 2008, Miller filed his motion to dismiss the charges because, according to him, "[t]he state cannot prove their case beyond a reasonable doubt using

In denying Miller's challenge to the sufficiency of the criminal complaint, the circuit court did not rely on the untimeliness of the motion challenging the sufficiency of the complaint. This court, however, "may sustain a lower court's holding on a theory or on reasoning not presented to the lower court." *State v. Holt*, 128 Wis. 2d 110, 125, 382 N.W.2d 679 (Ct. App. 1985), *superseded on other grounds by* Wis. Stat. § 940.225(7), *as recognized in State v. Grunke*, 2007 WI App 198, 305 Wis. 2d 312, 738 N.W.2d 137.

solely an uncorroborated confession by the defendant" (17:2). Even assuming Miller's argument amounts to a challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint (17:2-4; 70:7-8), the challenge came too late.

B. In The Plea Agreement, Miller Explicitly Waived Any Challenge To The Sufficiency Of The Criminal Complaint.

Miller explicitly waived his right to challenge the sufficiency of the criminal complaint. The addendum to the plea questionnaire states: "I understand that by pleading I am giving up my right to challenge the sufficiency of the complaint" (30:3). Miller signed both the plea questionnaire (30:2; 72:5) and the addendum (30:3; 72:5). At the change-of-plea hearing, the circuit court asked Miller whether he "ha[d] any more questions for either your attorney or the Court regarding anything on these forms" (72:6), Miller answered, "No, sir" (72:6). Miller also confirmed that he did not have any questions about anything discussed with his lawyer and that his lawyer had answered all of his questions (72:6). Because Miller had not filed a timely motion to challenge the sufficiency of the criminal complaint, his waiver in the plea agreement could apply only to the post-plea phase of the case, including a challenge in a postconviction motion and on appeal. In addition, the waiver in the plea questionnaire addendum shows that he knew (despite his current claim to the contrary) that he could not challenge the circuit court's ruling on his motion to challenge the sufficiency of the criminal complaint. Consequently, even if the sentencing plea-withdrawal motion alleged sufficient facts, "the record as a whole conclusively demonstrates that [Miller] is not entitled to relief."

Howell, 301 Wis. 2d 350, ¶ 77 n.51. Miller, therefor, has not shown, by clear and convincing evidence, that a manifest injustice would result from the denial of his plea-withdrawal motion. *Hoppe*, 317 Wis. 2d 161, ¶ 60.

C. The Corroboration Rule Does Not Apply To Factual Allegations In A Criminal Complaint Subject To A Probable-Cause Standard.

The challenge to the sufficiency of the criminal complaint rested on the contention that the incriminating statements by Miller did not have sufficient corroboration elsewhere in the complaint. Miller errs: a complaint need not include corroboration of a defendant's own confession or incriminating statement.⁷

[T]he main concern behind the corroboration rule is that an accused will feel "coerced or induced" when he or she "is under the pressure of a police investigation" and make a false confession as a result. Concerns about police pressure are not implicated, however, when, as in Hauk's case, a confession is made to a *friend* before a police investigation was even initiated.

(footnote continues on next page)

The corroboration rule is a common-law standard. Determining if the facts fulfill a common-law standard presents a question of law. We view the facts in evidence in a light most favorable to the jury's verdict." *State v. Bannister*, 2007 WI 86, ¶ 22, 302 Wis. 2d 158, 734 N.W.2d 892 (citations omitted). So, "[w]hen a court addresses a defendant's claim that his or her confession was insufficiently corroborated, it examines the sufficiency of evidence presented at trial." *Id.* ¶ 32 (citations omitted).

A "complaint is a written statement of the essential facts constituting the offense charged." Wis. Stat. § 968.01(2). A criminal complaint sufficiently establishes probable cause when the complaint recites that a participant in the crime has admitted to his participation in the charged offense. *Ruff v. State*, 65 Wis. 2d 713, 720, 223 N.W.2d 446 (1974). Here, the complaint shows that Miller admitted his participation in the charged offense.

In addition, cases dealing with the corroboration rule concern the rule's application in circumstances requiring proof beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., State v. Bannister, 2007 WI 86, 302 Wis. 2d 158, 734 N.W.2d 892 (jury trial); State v. Hauk, 2002 WI App 226, 257 Wis. 2d 579, 652 N.W.2d 393 (same); Holt v. State, 17 Wis. 2d 468, 117 N.W.2d 626 (1962) (same). A sufficient criminal complaint, however, need only establish probable cause that the defendant committed the crime alleged in the complaint. State v. Reed, 2005 WI 53, ¶ 12, 280 Wis. 2d 68, 695 N.W.2d 315

(footnote continues from previous page)

State v. Hauk, 2002 WI App 226, ¶ 25, 257 Wis. 2d 579, 652 N.W.2d 393 (footnote omitted).

The corroboration rule ensures that a conviction does not stand when there is an absence of any evidence independent of the defendant's confession that the crime in fact occurred. The corroboration rule functions as a "restriction on the power of the jury to convict." A conviction will not stand on the basis of a defendant's confession alone.

Bannister, 302 Wis. 2d 158, ¶ 23 (citations omitted).

(probable cause exists when "facts or reasonable inferences set forth [in the criminal complaint] . . . are sufficient to allow a reasonable person to conclude that a crime was probably committed and that the defendant probably committed it"). Hence, "[e]vidence which is obtained through unconstitutional means may be inadmissible at trial but still used as the foundation for a complaint." State v. Williamson, 113 Wis. 2d 389, 398, 335 N.W.2d 814 (1983). Similarly, evidence obtained in violation of the United States Constitution can establish probable cause for bindover. Moats. υ. 156 Wis. 2d 74.457 N.W.2d 299 (1990) ("If unconstitutionally obtained evidence is the sole evidence used at the preliminary examination and the defendant is bound over for trial, the purpose of the hearing is not affected. We hold that the unconstitutionally obtained confession can be used, as here, at the preliminary examination.").

Thus, a criminal complaint can establish probable cause through evidence that would not permit the State to sustain its burden at trial of proving guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Likewise, a criminal complaint can establish probable cause through a defendant's uncorroborated confession even though the State could not rely on that same confession at trial to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.

D. Even If The Corroboration Rule Applies To A Criminal Complaint, The Complaint Contained Sufficient Corroboration.

The corroboration criterion "requires that the State corroborate 'any significant fact" in the de-

fendant's confession. *Bannister*, 302 Wis. 2d 158, ¶ 26 (emphasis added). *See also id.* ¶ 27.

All the elements of the crime do not have to be proved independent of an accused's confession; however, there must be some corroboration of the confession in order to support a conviction. Such corroboration is required in order to produce a confidence in the truth of the confession. The corroboration, however, can be far less than is necessary to establish the crime independently of the confession. If there is corroboration of any significant fact, that is sufficient under the Wisconsin test.

Holt, 17 Wis. 2d at 480.

Jackson v. State, 29 Wis. 2d 225, 138 N.W.2d 260 (1965), also illustrates that the significant fact need not independently establish a specific element of a crime. In Jackson, the defendant was convicted for using heroin. During her arrest, she had admitted that she used heroin. The court noted that "needle marks, together with the laboratory report that traces of opium alkaloid were found on some of the seized paraphernalia, did supply sufficient corroborating evidence to sustain the conviction." Id. at 231-32. The needle marks and laboratory report alone would not establish that the defendant actually used heroin. Nevertheless, that evidence sufficiently corroborated her confession.

Bannister, 302 Wis. 2d 158, \P 28. In **Bannister**,

the evidence of morphine being present in Michael Wolk's body at the time of his death constitutes a significant fact. The presence of morphine is evidence of the fact that Michael used morphine. That fact corroborates Bannister's confession that he delivered morphine between December 2002 and mid-January 2003 to the Wolks because it gives confidence that he in fact gave the Wolks morphine.

Id. ¶ 34. In neither *Jackson*⁸ nor *Bannister* did the significant fact establish that the defendant committed the charged crime or even establish an element of the charged crime.

Here, the criminal complaint included Miller's acknowledgment "that he was watching pornography at his dad's house and he was 'jacking off', which means to masturbate[,]... to the pornographic movie" while at home with nobody else except his daughter (2:1). The complaint also included information from the victim's mother "that she had been to the residence where Miller was living and had observed that he had a Playstation in his bedroom. She also observed that there a pornographic movie in the Playstation during this same time period" (2:2). In accord with *Jackson* and *Bannister*, the mother's references to the pornographic movie satisfied the corroboration rule.

E. Miller Has Not Established That His Lawyer's Assistance Amounted To A Manifest Injustice Justifying Plea Withdrawal.

Although ineffective assistance of trial counsel can satisfy the "manifest injustice" standard, *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311, Miller has not shown by clear and convincing evidence that he received ineffective assistance. In his motion, he declared that he would not have entered his plea (and would instead have gone to trial) if his lawyer had correctly advised him that if he entered a no-

⁸ Jackson v. State, 29 Wis. 2d 225, 138 N.W.2d 260 (1965).

contest plea, he could not appeal the order denying his challenge to the sufficiency of the criminal complaint (52:3, ¶ 16). The record, however, refutes that declaration: on the day of his change of plea, Miller signed an explicit waiver of any further challenge to the sufficiency of the criminal complaint (30:3), and he told the circuit court during the change-of-plea hearing that he had gone over the plea questionnaire and addendum with his lawyer, that his lawyer had answered all of his questions, and that he did not have any questions for either the court or his lawyer (72:6).

In any event, in light of the explicit written waiver in the addendum to the plea questionnaire, the motion inadequately explains how defense counsel's alleged advice could have caused Miller any harm. If defense counsel provided that advice before Miller signed the waiver, Miller nonetheless chose to go ahead and sign a waiver that clearly rejected that advice. And if counsel provided that advice after Miller signed the waiver, the advice did not influence Miller's decision one whit. In either scenario, defense counsel's advice did not cause Miller any prejudice.

Defense counsel's pretrial challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint also did not cause Miller any prejudice. Assuming (as Miller asserted in his plea-withdrawal motion) that a challenge to the adequacy of corroboration "can only be litigated at trial" (52:3, ¶ 16), a premature effort to litigate the issue cannot cause any prejudice. At worst, the judge denies the motion as premature, leaving counsel to litigate the issue when it becomes ripe. Miller did not lose the opportunity to litigate the corroboration issue because his lawyer raised the

issue too soon; Miller lost the opportunity to raise the issue at the proper time because he explicitly waived the opportunity.

In short, under the standards for assessing a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel (pp. 4-7, above), Miller has not established a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

In the end, the conflict between (on one hand) unverified allegations in a motion and (on the other hand) facts shown on the record in open court precludes Miller from satisfying the "clear and convincing evidence" standard for establishing ineffective assistance of trial counsel as a manifest injustice warranting plea withdrawal. At the least, Miller's plea-withdrawal motion needed more detailed allegations about defense counsel's representations — including, perhaps, a sworn affidavit — to clear the hurdle created by a record that shows Miller twice waived his right to challenge to the sufficiency of the complaint and that he did so knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily at the change-of-plea hearing.

F. The Circuit Court's Statement Did Not Create A Defective Plea Colloquy.

In his plea-withdrawal motion, Miller asserted that "[t]he court's plea colloquy was defective because the judge gave Miller inaccurate information about his appeal rights, and Miller relied on this inaccurate information in entering his guilty plea" (52:3, ¶ 17). The alleged inaccuracy concerned this exchange:

THE COURT: You also need to know that you have the right to challenge certain legal matters

such as you are the identified person that committed this offense, *challenges to the sufficiency of the complaint*, suppression of statements you might have made to law enforcement, or suppression of other evidence. Now, you have had some motion hearings and those issues are preserved. So if you appeal, the Court will look at those issues. Those issues that you haven't addressed though, you are waiving; do you understand that?

DEFENDANT MILLER: Yes, sir.

(72:9 (emphasis added).)

The circuit court erred, but not in any way that harmed or actually misled Miller. Just moments earlier, Miller had acknowledged his understanding of the plea questionnaire and addendum. The addendum contained his unqualified waiver of his right to challenge the sufficiency of the criminal complaint. He thus knew, regardless of the court's statement, that he had pled away any right to challenge the complaint's sufficiency.

G. Summary.

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